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CHAPTER ONE



THE FIRST WORLD WAR – SETTING THE SCENE


Today, we would probably consider life in Anglesey at the beginning of the twentieth century to have been extremely primitive. Much of the population lived in poverty; for the really poor, life was a constant daily struggle. As much as 20 per cent of the population of some rural areas were dependent on some form of financial assistance provided by the parish. In 1914, the secretary of the Welsh Housing Association stated that some homes in rural Anglesey were in a far worse state than the slums of Canton in China. Many of the island’s houses were damp, badly ventilated, overcrowded and were completely lacking in any sanitary facilities. Anglesey was one of the worst places in Britain for tuberculosis and other infectious diseases that are associated with poverty and lack of sanitation. School medical examinations revealed the unhealthy state of the children of the island; poor physique and tooth decay were prevalent. Children suffering from tuberculosis were sent to the Penhesgyn Open Air Home (near Menai Bridge) which was established in 1908. The Cefni Hospital at Llangefni treated adults with tuberculosis from 1915.


Without doubt, one of the factors contributing to this unhealthy state of affairs was the lack of a clean water supply in many parts of the island. Anglesey’s largest town, Holyhead, had water provided by the Holyhead Water Company since the 1860s. In 1905, Llyn Traffwll (2 miles south of Bodedern) became a water reservoir for Holyhead. The Menai Bridge area was provided with water from wells near the present site of Ysgol David Hughes. Llangefni took its water from three local wells and Beaumaris took its water from Llyn Pen-y-Parc (about a mile south-west of the town). Valley obtained its water from Llyn Maelog which also served Rhosneigr. Cemaes, Benllech and Amlwch took water from rivers or wells. The provision of water throughout most of the island was very primitive indeed.


With the exception of the A5 post road (built at the beginning of the nineteenth century), the island’s roads were poor and many were little better than tracks. Anglesey’s three railway lines offered a much better means of travel for those living within reach of a station, especially since motor cars were the preserve of the very rich and totally beyond the means of most of the island’s people.


In 1914, only three towns in Anglesey had electricity – Holyhead (operated by the Urban District Council since 1906), Llangefni and Menai Bridge. The supply was produced locally. Electricity was therefore very new and comparatively few homes in these three areas were actually connected to the supply. Gas was available only in a few urban areas and was produced locally from coal at a gas works. Telephones were virtually unheard of; most ordinary people had never used one – this being the case, communication was by letter or telegram. Post offices could receive urgent messages by telegraph and deliver them locally.


The dominant industry was agriculture and in Anglesey large numbers of agricultural labourers were employed; the wages were low, typically between 15s and £1 per week. Farms were not highly mechanised and the main motive power was the horse, as it had been for centuries.


The tourist industry, on the other hand, was in its infancy at the beginning of the twentieth century and there was a trickle of holidaymakers frequenting such resorts as Benllech, Rhosneigr and Trearddur Bay. There is evidence that some wealthy people from the English conurbations owned holiday homes in coastal areas such as Trearddur Bay; holiday homes are not a modern phenomenon. Rhosneigr railway station was built in 1907 and the line to Benllech was completed in 1909. It was hoped that both schemes would draw in holidaymakers and produce additional revenue for the LNWR railway company.


Wars were a common occurrence throughout the centuries and Britain had been involved in many of them. The nineteenth century had witnessed many conflicts, such as the Napoleonic Wars, the Crimean War and the Boer Wars. These were battles fought in distant countries with no direct impact on the civilian population at home, other than the fact that British servicemen were fighting in them. Thousands of men died in these wars. For example, in the Crimean War (1853–6), some 2,750 men were killed in action but over 16,000 died of disease. Similarly, in the Second Boer War (1899–1902), 7,900 were killed in action and over 13,000 died of disease. However, these figures pale into insignificance compared to the world wars of the twentieth century.


The assassination of Archduke Franz Ferdinand (heir to the throne of the dual kingdom of Austria-Hungary) in Sarajevo on 28 June 1914 by an Austrian subject of Serbian blood, Gavrilo Princip, is the usual reason given for the start of the First World War. Some historians regard this as an excuse for the war rather than its cause which included Austria-Hungary’s ambitions in the Balkans. Furthermore, Germany had adopted an aggressive stance under Kaiser Wilhelm II and from 1898 had begun the process of enlarging its navy which could prove a threat to Britain, then the world’s most powerful maritime nation. Britain had agreements with the two powers to the west and east of Germany, namely France and Russia. David Lloyd George, a minister in the Liberal Government of Henry Herbert Asquith was confident that common sense and goodwill would prevail and that any large-scale conflict could be avoided. After the assassination, however, Austria-Hungary decided to take action against Serbia which was suspected of involvement in the archduke’s murder.


Within a few weeks, by reason of various treaties and agreements between countries, a full-scale war had developed throughout Europe and elsewhere and eventually involved most countries in the world to some degree. The United Kingdom (including the whole of Ireland which was at that time under British rule) and its overseas colonies, France, Russia, Serbia, Belgium, Italy and Japan (the ‘Entente Powers’) fought against the ‘Central Powers’ (Austria-Hungary, Germany, Turkey and Bulgaria).



THE HOME FRONT 1914–18



Airships


The Royal Naval Air Service (RNAS) station was located on a 242-acre site at Mona, now used as an airfield. It employed airships and aeroplanes and was active from 26 September 1915 until 1919. It had a sub-station at Malahide Castle (on the coast of County Dublin) in Ireland, and was responsible for patrolling a very large area of sea extending from Anglesey to Morecambe Bay in the east and to Dublin in the west. A substantial camp was set up in the vicinity of the airship station to house the station’s personnel.


Anglesey Volunteer Reserves


The Anglesey Volunteer Reserves were formed in 1917 and men were actively recruited throughout the island. The reserves were based at the Kingsbridge camp at Llanfaes and the organisation was made up of men who were unable to enlist in the Regular Army or who claimed had exemption from conscription. There were approximately 1,200 men in the AVR, under the command of Major Hugh Pritchard of Llangefni. They performed guard duties on the Menai Suspension Bridge and the Britannia Railway Bridge as a precaution against possible sabotage linked to unrest in Ireland. There were always ten men on duty on the bridges.


Anti-War Campaigning


The anti-war monthly Y Deyrnas (The Realm) was published in Bangor and ran between October 1916 and November 1919. It contained articles by various religious figures and socialists and drew attention to the plight of conscientious objectors who were imprisoned and harshly treated for their beliefs. Its circulation was never particularly high, and it is said that its sales in Anglesey were disappointing. In fact, comparatively few prominent people spoke against the war, and even fewer were prepared to listen.


Army Camps


The Kingsbridge camp, near Llanfaes, had been opened in 1902 as a tented summer camp for the militia. The Anglesey militia was originally formed in 1762 and one of their functions was to quell incidents of social unrest. The militia became known as the Royal Anglesey Royal Engineers in the 1870s, and at the Kingsbridge camp were taught a number of skills including bridge-building and carpentry. The unit saw service in the Boer War of 1899–1902. In 1911 the camp started the work of training reservists as army engineers. By 1914 the camp was enlarged with permanent buildings and hundreds of troops arrived to receive specialist training – soldiers who would then be sent to France. In 2008, the Daily Post reported that two local archaeologists had discovered the remains of what they believed to be practice trenches at the Kingsbridge site. During the First World War, soldiers in uniform were much in evidence at the ports of Holyhead and Amlwch and the men were often billeted, by compulsion if necessary, in many Anglesey homes. The large Station Hotel at Holyhead was taken over by military personnel as an administrative centre for a time.


The Defence of the Realm Act


This Act was passed by Parliament on 8 August 1914. It gave the government wide-ranging powers, such as the right to requisition land or buildings for the war effort or to create regulations for lighting, criminal offences, censorship and so on. Certain apparently innocent activities, such as lighting bonfires and flying kites were forbidden; even feeding bread to wild animals was prohibited for a time because it was classed as a waste of food. People who were in breach of these regulations could, in principle, be sentenced to death. In Anglesey, there were many minor breaches of these regulations throughout the war and the courts were kept busy.


Hospitals


The Stanley Sailors’ Hospital was established on Salt Island, Holyhead, in November 1871. A remarkable woman called Jane Henrietta Adeane (a niece of W.O. Stanley of Penrhos) had been associated with the hospital since 1881; during the war the hospital was taken over by the military and she assumed the title ‘commandant’. Hundreds of patients from all over the world passed through the hospital during the course of the conflict as well as a large number of staff. Many of the nurses came from the Voluntary Aid Detachment (VAD) of the Red Cross.


Other buildings also took the role of ‘hospitals’ although in reality they were convalescent homes for the large number of wounded servicemen. The Assembly Rooms (Holborn Road), the Sailors’ Home (Newry Beach), and Llys y Gwynt (Llanfawr Close) all located in Holyhead, assumed this role. Isallt Fawr, Ty’r Enfys and the Darien Hotel (all three at Trearddur Bay) also became wartime convalescent homes, as did the Lady Thomas Convalescent Home which was opened in Holyhead a few months after the war (and later became the Gors Maternity Hospital). Ty Wridin, Rhoscolyn (maintained by Sir M.M. Grayson MP) was also used for a while. Much of the work at these institutions was voluntary and social events were often arranged for patients in order to aid their recovery. Elsewhere in Anglesey, Plas Llanfair (Llanfair Pwllgwyngyll) and Plas Tre-Ysgawen (Capel Coch) were also used as temporary convalescent homes. From March 1918, there was also a Rest Camp at Holyhead which could cater for 1,000 people; no fewer than 73,000 men passed through this camp during the war, including Sinn Féin prisoners such as Éamon de Valera.
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Ty’r Enfys, Trearddur Bay, was used as a hospital during the First World War.
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Llys y Gwynt in Llanfawr Close, Holyhead, was also used as a hospital during the First World War. During the Second World War it was the home of a Dutch Naval Officer. The building is now used as accommodation for young homeless people.


Censorship


A considerable degree of censorship was imposed by the government and the press was limited in what it could print. Even so, letters written by soldiers from the trenches of the Western Front reached home and were often printed in local newspapers. A number of letters written by Anglesey servicemen would have been written in Welsh and these were also censored by the authorities.


Land Army and Agriculture


The U-boat menace caused shipping losses that made Britain more dependent on home-produced food during the First World War. Prices rose and agriculture enjoyed a period of prosperity during the war, of which the main beneficiaries were the farmers. Other working people, who struggled to scrape a living, were often resentful of the farmers’ prosperity. In 1917 the Corn Production Act gave farmers guaranteed prices: good prices were obtained for milk, beef and grain crops. Anglesey’s War Agricultural Committee was given a quota of 18,000 additional acres on the island, bringing the total arable area to 75,000 acres.


The Women’s Land Army was formed in 1916 and by 1917, over a quarter of a million women worked as farm labourers or in the Women’s Timber Corps.


Posters


About a hundred different recruitment posters were issued at the time of the First World War, the most famous of which was the Lord Kitchener poster (a national hero who became Secretary of State for War in 1914) with his moustachioed face and his pointing finger, exclaiming ‘your country needs you’.


Prisoners of War


By the end of the First World War, the larger prisoner of war camps in the UK had smaller working camps or agricultural depots attached to them, and these covered quite large areas of the country. The large Frongoch camp in Merionethshire had subsidiary camps throughout Wales. In Anglesey, some German prisoners were housed in a camp near Llangaffo and many of them worked in the harvest and on drainage schemes on the Malltraeth Marshes. From 1917 extensive use began to be made of German prisoners of war for other work owing to the shortage of labour and food. Most worked in agriculture but many were also engaged in construction, road repairs, land reclamation and quarrying. Employers were charged for the use of prisoner labour at the usual local rates. The number of prisoners of war engaged in work throughout Britain is estimated to have been in the region of 100,000.


Rationing


In the first part of the war, food remained reasonably plentiful. However, German U-boats sank large numbers of ships carrying imported food and by 1917 there were shortages, particularly bread. From early 1918 a number of basic food items were rationed, including sugar, butter, margarine, cheese and meat. The public were issued with ration coupons from July 1918 and would have to register with a shop of their choice.


Refugees


About 300 Belgian refugees came to Anglesey and stayed in various places, including Menai Bridge and Amlwch. Their stay in Anglesey was comparatively short with many moving to England to seek work. During their stay, the Menai Bridge refugees helped locals to build a promenade from Carreg yr Halen, Menai Bridge, to the causeway at Church Island and it is still known to this day as the Belgian Promenade. It was badly damaged by storms in the early 1960s and was repaired in 1965, having been officially opened by Eduard Willems, the sole survivor of the original workforce.


Support and fundraising organisations


There were many organisations that made their contribution to the war effort in one form or another. Funds were collected for various charities such as the Red Cross, and War Relief Funds were established in several areas to alleviate hardship, particularly for families of servicemen. Flag days were a popular means of raising money. The government raised the vast sums needed to finance the war through the sale of War Loan Stock and various savings certificates. There was an insatiable demand for public money at a time when many of Anglesey’s poor were struggling to make ends meet. Sewing and knitting groups, who made items such as socks and gloves for soldiers were busy in many villages, often being associated with a particular chapel or church. Among the more unusual organisations was one known as ‘Eggs for the Wounded’ in Beaumaris.


Women


An organisation known as the Voluntary Aid Detachment (VAD) came into being in 1909. Although not exclusively a women’s organisation, many middle- and upper-class women, with time on their hands, performed voluntary duties, mainly in hospitals (such as those in Anglesey) as auxiliary nurses. When war broke out in 1914, there was a greatly increased demand for VAD nurses and by the end of the war tens of thousands were at work in hospitals throughout Britain and in Europe. Other women’s organisations formed during the war were the Women’s Royal Naval Service (WRNS, established in 1916), the Women’s Royal Air Force (WRAF, formed in April 1918), the Women’s Auxiliary Army Corps (formed in March 1917 to assist as clerks, cooks, drivers, telephonists, etc.) and the Women’s Land Army (established in 1916). In addition, many women took over men’s jobs in factories, delivered mail and even drove buses.




CHAPTER TWO



1914


It may seem surprising to us now, but when Britain entered the war on Tuesday 4 August 1914, there were street celebrations throughout the country and in most of Europe’s capital cities. No one could have envisaged the appalling trench warfare and the enormous casualties that would occur. Indeed, there was a naïve expectation among many that the war would be over by Christmas. Many young men saw the war as a great adventure and flocked to enlist; so many in fact that conscription into the armed forces was unnecessary until 1916. The British Government asked for 100,000 British volunteers in August 1914, but in fact 761,000 enlisted in the first two months of the war alone. By January 1915, over one million men had volunteered. A volunteer soldier in 1914 could expect to earn 1s per day. Few of those who volunteered could have had any concept of what lay ahead of them.


In his recollections of life in the market town of Llangefni entitled Cnoc ar y Drws (A Knock at the Door), T.C. Simpson (then in his early twenties) recalls the beginning of the war. He relates how twenty naïve young men, himself included, visited the County Offices to enlist simply because they were keen to acquire a uniform like that worn by the recruiting officer. Simpson admits that they had no notions of combat whatsoever!


A contemporary of T.C. Simpson was Ifan Gruffydd (1896–1971) of Llangristiolus. In his remarkable Welsh language autobiography entitled Gwr o Baradwys (A Man from Paradise), Ifan Gruffydd gives a memorable picture of rural Anglesey life at the beginning of the twentieth century. He maintains that Anglesey people at that time saw wars and military matters as distant and alien affairs which did not concern them. There was a widespread belief that fighting wars was England’s work and that the job of the Welsh was merely to hear of their exploits. In August 1914, a recruiting sergeant in Llangefni (wearing an impressive uniform including a red coat, blue trousers, a velvet cap and spurs) persuaded Ifan Gruffydd to sign a piece of paper committing him to army service for six years.


It was easy to persuade unsophisticated rural dwellers who had limited command of the English language into signing slips of paper; many others were probably fooled in the same way. By the end of the war, it is estimated that as many as 100,000 Welsh-speaking soldiers had served in the war; a considerable number would not have been particularly fluent in English.
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One of Anglesey’s most prominent Presbyterian chapel ministers, the Revd Thomas Charles Williams of Menai Bridge, regarded the First World War as a ‘just war’ and encouraged young men to enlist.
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Sir John Morris-Jones, professor of Welsh at Bangor University, lived at Llanfair Pwllgwyngyll. He also encouraged young men to sign-up.





The declaration of war caused a wave of jingoistic patriotism to sweep over the country and Anglesey was no exception. Those who spoke against the war, a few religious figures and socialists, were very small in number. Well-known local figures such as John Morris-Jones, the much respected Professor of Welsh at the University College of North Wales, Bangor (who lived in Llanfair Pwllgwyngyll) actively encouraged young men to enlist. Sir Henry Jones, the educationalist and philosopher, also campaigned to recruit soldiers. He was an eminent Welshman of his period and a friend of David Lloyd George. Respected and influential local religious figures, such as the Revd Thomas Charles Williams of Menai Bridge and the charismatic Revd John Williams of Brynsiencyn described the conflict as a ‘just war’. But it was not an easy task to persuade young men who had been brought up in the chapel and had experienced the religious revival (Y Diwygiad) of 1904–5 to volunteer for war. In Anglesey, volunteers were initially comparatively few in number and many people were very critical of this slowness, which was perceived by some as unpatriotic.
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Government Minister David Lloyd George (1863–1945) showed great enthusiasm for the First World War. He urged young men to enlist and was keen to establish a ‘Welsh Army’.





Local newspapers devoted considerable space to their coverage of the war. The progress of the conflict in Europe received considerable attention but the work and experiences of local people was also extensively reported. Y Clorianydd was a 4-page weekly Welsh language paper, published on Wednesday, and costing ½d. In the 5 August issue (the first issue since war was declared) most of the usual features and mundane advertisements were unchanged; one front page advertisement proclaimed in Welsh that ‘The best place in Anglesey for satisfaction for the feet is O.J. Williams’ [shoe] shop at 3 Glanhwfa Road, Llangefni’. However, inside, a small paragraph told a more sinister and disturbing story, and brought the reality of war to the people of Anglesey:





… the Germans have detained a British vessel, the Saxon, in the Kiel Canal, near Hamburg. Her master is Captain Rowland Humphreys [aged 35] of Amlwch Port, and three of the hands are also from there, W. Moulsdale [Brickpool, Amlwch Port], Harry Wynne [16 Brickpool, Amlwch Port, aged 22] and Richard Hughes [Brickfield Street, Amlwch]. The Chief Engineer is from Benllech and the Second Engineer is named E. Parry [aged 32] from Penysarn. [Translated].





The Saxon was a 495-ton coaster built in 1898 and owned by T.W. Smyth and Company of London. The crew were unlucky to be at the wrong place at the wrong time; their families would wait a long time to see them again. The Saxon was not the only vessel detained in Germany under similar circumstances; other Anglesey men also found themselves prisoners. The same issue of Y Clorianydd reported that prayer meetings had been held at some of the island’s chapels, calling for an early and peaceful outcome to the situation.


The Holyhead Chronicle was an 8-page English language weekly published on Fridays, costing 1d. Today we would not regard these local papers as ‘reader-friendly’ as they were mostly set with tiny print and photographs were only rarely printed. Both the Chronicle and Y Clorianydd were written in the very formal style of the period and totally unlike their modern counterparts. A paragraph in the 7 August issue of the Chronicle must have summed up the feelings of many:





It has been a strange Bank Holiday for Britain, for Europe, for the whole world; the awful shadow of the war cloud drawing nearer and nearer, the many wild rumours, the coming and the going of the Territorial troops, the mobilisation of the naval reserve; the general uncertainty and dread. And, strange to say, with one stupendous exception, we seem to be at peace with all the world, having no cause of quarrel, offensive or defensive, with any nation …





The same issue was keen to report ‘thrilling details’ of the sinking of a German minelayer, Königin Luise, at Harwich. She was a German passenger ship adapted for laying mines, and her destruction provided further evidence that the war at sea was already under way, with activity by both sides.


At the beginning of August, an open-air meeting was held in Victoria Square, Holyhead, to protest against the raising of food prices by certain local shopkeepers. Some traders were said to have increased their prices by as much as 100 per cent. There were suggestions that wealthier members of society had been hoarding goods and they were urged to return them to Holyhead Urban Council who would ‘buy them at the prices paid for them’.


The first week of August saw a large number of railway passengers passing through Holyhead. The Chronicle reported that wives and children ‘with tears streaming down their faces clung to husbands in passionate farewell.’ In the same week, it was reported that an aeroplane was seen over Holyhead ‘at a great height and travelling at a tremendous speed in the direction of Amlwch.’ Aeroplanes would have been a most unusual sight in Anglesey at this time and the event was obviously considered newsworthy.


Some things went on as usual, of course. Holyhead Town Hall was screening an episode of the American film serial Lucille Love, the Girl of Mystery starring Grace Cunard. It was described as a ‘sensational picture, which has been secured at great expense.’ Incidentally, Holyhead had had a cinema since the Hippodrome opened its doors in 1909. On the other hand, the Anglesey Agricultural Show, due to be held at Llangefni on 13 August, was postponed indefinitely. The Beaumaris Sheepdog Trials suffered a similar fate.


In August the Holyhead War Relief Fund was established to care for wives and children as their husbands had left suddenly to join the war effort. There was an appeal for funds and a committee was formed. House to house collections were also organised. A fortnight later the fund is reported to have exceeded £320.


Within days of the declaration of war, the Admiralty requisitioned the four ferries (Cambria, Scotia, Anglia and Hibernia) operating from Holyhead (owned by the LNWR) and they underwent complete transformation into armed boarding steamers. The work was carried out at the Marine Yard, Holyhead, and was completed in only ten days. This is testimony to the skills and expertise which existed in Holyhead’s shipyards at that time.


On Sunday 9 August, eight Germans (five men, one woman and two children) arrived at Holyhead from Ireland on the mail boat. They were detained at the local police station ‘pending enquiries’. Later in August, it was reported that the Admiralty had taken up the offer of a camp at Plas Newydd from the Marquess of Anglesey. The County Theatre in Bangor (patronised by many people in southern Anglesey) boasted that it was showing ‘War Pictures’ which they described as ‘the first in North Wales’. Colonel Dixon at Menai Bridge Recruiting Station was urging Anglesey people who owned motor cars to convey recruits to recruiting stations.


On a lighter note, the Chronicle reported that Miss Leely Le Feuvre (aged fifteen) of Seacombe, Wallasey, who was on holiday in Holyhead, had swum around the mailboat which was anchored near the breakwater. The 1½-mile swim took her 25 minutes.


Newspapers continued to publish advertisements for shops and other businesses in the same way as before the war although their rather formal style is very different to their present-day equivalents. Advertisements for various patent remedies were also very common, such as Beecham’s Pills (‘the greatest digestive medicine of our time’) or Ladies Blanchard’s Pills (‘unrivalled for all irregularities … never fails to alleviate suffering’).


Advertisements from a less sophisticated age often seem comical to us today. But local papers also carried some astonishingly pointless reports such as one which appeared in the Chronicle of 28 August:





Mrs Roberts, 23 Stanley Street and forty friends motored out to Ellen’s Tower [near South Stack] on Tuesday afternoon, where an enjoyable picnic was held.





On a more relevant note, the same edition of the Chronicle also printed a letter from an anonymous source urging young men to enlist:





It is very disconcerting that so far the efforts made to enlist recruits in the County of Anglesey for the Reserve Army have for some reason or other not met with the success they demand. Possibly it may be due to the effect that young men of the county have not realised their great responsibility to their country … The young men of our port [Holyhead] are quite ready to attend picture shows and to cheer as they see photos of our leaders exhibited on the screens, but their cheering ends in mere empty vapour and not in any active work or service …





But on 2 September, it was reported that 71 young men left Holyhead railway station to join the Royal Anglesey Royal Engineers at Beaumaris. Three days later a recruitment meeting was held at Menai Bridge, where the speakers included Mr Ellis Griffith, Anglesey’s MP, the Revd Thomas Charles Williams (Minister of Capel Mawr, Menai Bridge) and the Rector of Menai Bridge.


On the back page of its 2 September edition, Y Clorianydd proclaimed in large print, using the typical multiple headlines of the period:





TERRIBLE FIGHTING IN FRANCE


BRITISH MEN GAIN DISTINCTION


GERMANS SUFFER HEAVY LOSSES [Translated]





It was what people wanted to hear. Such headlines would create the impression that the war was progressing satisfactorily, without actually revealing very much. The 11 September edition of the Chronicle carried two large photographs of the destruction at Louvain in Belgium caused by the German advance, while the 16 September edition of Y Clorianydd printed exactly the same photographs. For the first time, perhaps, the ordinary people of Anglesey saw something of what was happening in Europe – how the conflict was being fought in the towns and villages and the effect it was having on ordinary people. In the same week, the Chronicle published a letter from J.R. Roberts of Llanfihangel Rectory, Llanfyllin, under the title ‘Wake up Wales’:





As a patriotic Welshman, I cannot disguise my keen disappointment at the very poor response which the Welsh-speaking districts have made to Lord Kitchener’s appeal for men …





Another letter, from a person known only as ‘X’ appeared in the same edition under the title ‘Nonconformists and Recruiting’:





May I suggest through your widely read paper that each incumbent in Wales should state (1) the number of men who have volunteered for the war in his parish; (2) how many of those are Churchmen and how many are Nonconformists. This might throw some light on the teaching of Nonconformity in Wales. The parish where I am staying is a hot-bed of Nonconformity. None but Churchmen have volunteered and I hear that this is more or less general. The young men say (1) that they can get better wages at home, and (2) that they are told (by whom?) that if the Germans conquer England, they will not be affected in any way. Is this the ‘Gallant little Wales’?


Yours etc., X.





Quite a number of letters to the press, particularly in the English language Chronicle, seemed to have a somewhat anti-Nonconformist tone. In mid-September it was reported that 562 men had left Holyhead on active service. On Thursday 10 September a party of 42 Belgian refugees (monks and nuns) passed through Holyhead, and after being given refreshments by the ladies of the Red Cross detachment, they proceeded on their journey to Dublin on board the ferry Rathmore.


In mid-September it was reported that a Holyhead man, Thomas Rowlands of 7 Wynne Terrace, had been among those taken captive by the German cruiser Dresden 150 miles off the coast of Brazil on 15 August. German officers and crew boarded the 3,352-ton steamship Hyades in which Mr Rowlands served and ordered the crew into boats. The Germans then scuttled the Hyades. The crew of the Hyades arrived in Rio de Janeiro on 19 August and were then transported to Liverpool on board the Oriana.


The recruitment of young men into the armed forces was still proving to be a slow process in most parts of Anglesey, so as a consequence, a series of recruiting advertisements appeared in the local papers from mid-September, in English in the Chronicle and in Welsh in Y Clorianydd:
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By the beginning of November, in an attempt to enlist more men, the height requirement had been reduced to 5ft 4in and from mid-November it had been reduced again to 5ft 3in. By January 1915 the upper age limit would be extended to 38. By the beginning of March 1915, the minimum height would be reduced to 5ft 2in and by the end of that month, it was 5ft 1in. In June 1915 the upper age limit was extended to 40.


A ‘Welsh Hospital’ at Netley, near Southampton, was established in October to cater for wounded Welsh servicemen. This was much reported in the local press and many local areas made collections for this hospital. The Netley hospital was a large hospital completed in 1863; the ‘Welsh Military Hospital’ was actually a group of huts erected behind the Netley hospital, although this was certainly not made clear in the local papers. It was reported that the people of Amlwch hoped to fund an ‘Anglesey bed’ in this hospital. On a more curious note, it was reported on 18 September that no football will be played in Menai Bridge while the war is in progress. In the same week Y Clorianydd gave readers a stirring set of multiple headlines on its back page:





THE TIDE HAS TURNED


PURSUING THE GERMANS


THOUSANDS TAKEN PRISONER


THE BELGIANS STRIKE AGAIN


RUSSIA AND ITS VICTORIOUS LEGIONS


[Translated]





It was reported on 18 September that lady members of the congregation at St Mary’s Church, Beaumaris, had undertaken to make and provide suitable articles of clothing for the soldiers at the front in connection with the efforts of the Red Cross Society. A first instalment of about 100 parcels had been received at the Church Room and further instalments each fortnight.


Inevitably, reports of deaths were beginning to reach Anglesey. On 25 September it was reported that nine men on board the British auxiliary cruiser Carmania (a converted Cunard passenger liner) were killed in a battle with the German armed cruiser Cap Trafalgar which later sank. One of those killed was Richard Edward Pierce (aged 42) of Holyhead; he left a widow and eight children.
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FOR THOSE WHO WANT TO
serve their country
An appeal to the

Young Men of A\n;.ll-« Py

A further addition of soo 000 men to
His Majesty’s Regular Army is immediately
necessary in the present grave National Emergency

TERMS OF SERVICE
General service for the period of the war only
Age on Enlistment  19-35
Ex-soldiers 19-45
Must be medically fit and height Sft Gin
Chest measurement 35in

Separation allowance given for wives and children
Men enisin for duration o war il
e dicharged withall comeient specd

W TO JOIN
Men wishing to join should apply to the
Police or Post Office or at the following Recruiting Offices:
Menai Bridge: Water St Llangefni: Memorial Institute
Beaumaris: Barracks Liannerch-y-medd: Police Station
Holyhead: 72 Market Street  Amlweh: Police Station

Colonel Dixon Menai Bridge ~Recruiting
Captain Wyatt  -do- Officers
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